S279137

Case No. _____

**IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA**

TAMELIN STONE, et al.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

ALAMEDA HEALTH SYSTEM,

Defendant and Respondent.

No Fee (Gov. Code, § 6103)
After a Decision by the Court of Appeal,
First Appellate District, Division Five
Case No. A164021

PETITION FOR REVIEW

*RYAN P. MCGINLEY-STEMPEL (SBN 296182)
rmcginleystempel@publiclawgroup.com
ARTHUR A. HARTINGER (SBN 121521)
ahartinger@publiclawgroup.com
GEOFFREY SPELLBERG (SBN 121079)
gspellberg@publiclawgroup.com
RENNE PUBLIC LAW GROUP
350 Sansome Street, Suite 300
San Francisco, California 94104
Telephone:(415) 848-7200
Facsimile: (415) 848-7230

Attorneys for Defendant and Respondent

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Are all public entities exempt from the obligations in the Labor Code and wage orders regarding meal and rest breaks, overtime, and payroll records, or only those public entities that satisfy the “hallmarks of sovereignty” standard adopted by the Court of Appeal in this case?

2. Does the exemption from the prompt payment statutes in Labor Code section 220, subdivision (b), for “employees directly employed by any county, incorporated city, or town or other municipal corporation” include all public entities that exercise governmental functions, or only those with a publicly elected board, a geographical boundary, the power to forcefully raise funds or acquire property, and the power to regulate or police?

3. Do the civil penalties available under the Private Attorneys General Act of 2004, codified at Labor Code section 2698 et seq., apply to public entities given the lack of any reference to public entities in that statute and rule that public entities are “not liable for ... damages imposed primarily for the sake of example and by way of punishing the defendant” (Gov. Code, § 818)?

INTRODUCTION: WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The decision by the Court of Appeal in this case breaks with a long line of cases holding that public entities are not subject to certain Labor Code and wage order obligations because the Legislature did not make these rules specifically applicable to public entities. In doing so, the Court of Appeal has created multiple conflicts with other published opinions and potential liability and confusion for numerous public entities regarding their legal obligations. Resolving this conflict is critical to Defendant/Respondent Alameda Health System (“AHS”) and countless other public employers in the state.

The County of Alameda created AHS as an independent public hospital authority pursuant to state law to discharge the County’s obligations under section 17000 of the Welfare and Institutions Code and to “fulfill its commitment to the medically indigent, special needs, and general populations of” the County. (Health & Saf. Code, § 101850, subd. (a)(1).) AHS’s enabling statute makes clear that it is a “government entity” (*id.*, subd. (j))—subject to the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act, the Ralph M. Brown Act, the Public Records Act, the County Employees Retirement Law of 1937, and the Government Claims Act—with “all the rights and duties set forth in state law with respect to hospitals owned or operated by a county.” (*Id.*, subd. (m).)

The decision below acknowledges that “there is no reason to doubt that” AHS “is a ‘governmental entity’ of some kind” and a “public entity of some sort,” rendering it exempt from the Labor

Code provisions regarding wage statements and default penalties under the Private Attorneys General Act of 2004 (“PAGA”). (Typed opn. at pp. 12, 15.) Yet because AHS lacks certain “hallmarks of sovereignty” (typed opn. at p. 1), such as a governing board elected by the public and the power to tax, seize property, regulate, or police, the Court of Appeal concluded that AHS does not qualify for certain wage and hour exemptions previously thought to apply to all public employers. For the following reasons, review is “necessary to secure uniformity of decision” and “to settle important questions of law.” (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).)

Issue One. The Court of Appeal’s published decision creates a split of authority with numerous other published decisions holding that wage and hour obligations regarding meal and rest breaks, payroll records, and overtime do not apply to public entities, based on the Legislature’s own recognition that “provisions of the Labor Code apply only to employees in the private sector unless they are specifically made applicable the public employees.” (*Johnson v. Arvin-Edison Water Storage Dist.* (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 729, 736 [quoting Senate Committee on Industrial Relations and *Campbell v. Regents of University of California* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 311, 330]; accord, e.g., *California Correctional Peace Officers’ Assn. v. State of California* (2010) 188 Cal.App.4th 646, 651-656 & fn. 7 (CCPOA); *Allen v. San Diego Convention Center Corporation, Inc.* (2022) 86 Cal.App.5th 589, 598.)

Most of these cases have reached this conclusion without even addressing the “sovereign powers” doctrine—a separate principle of statutory construction providing that “governmental agencies are excluded from the general provisions of a statute only if their inclusion would result in an infringement upon sovereign powers.” (*Wells v. One2One Learning Foundation* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 1164, 1192.) Other cases have addressed the doctrine but recognized its limited relevance for the Labor Code because, “in the context of wage and hour provisions, the Legislature expressly refers to public entities when it intends them to be included.” (*Johnson, supra*, 174 Cal.App.4th at p. 736.) Indeed, as this Court has explained in concluding that public entities are not subject to the False Claims Act, “[w]hile the ‘sovereign powers’ principle can help resolve an unclear legislative intent, it cannot override positive indicia of a contrary legislative intent”—such as expressly referring to public entities in other provisions of the same code. (*Wells*, at p. 1193.)

The Court of Appeal purported to follow the foregoing line of authority, but in fact its decision creates multifaceted conflicts requiring this Court’s resolution. First, despite acknowledging that AHS is a “public entity of some sort,” (typed opn. at p. 15), the Court of Appeal found no “positive indicia” of legislative intent to exempt AHS from the wage and hour provisions. This approach—which fixates on the type rather than the fact of public entity involvement—flies in the face of the principles adopted in the foregoing cases, creating a conflict that needs resolution. In doing so, the Court of Appeal adopted an unduly

narrow construction of the public employer exemption in the wage orders that also conflicts with another published decision. (Compare typed opn. at pp. 8-9 with *Sheppard v. North Orange County Regional Occupational Program* (2010) 191 Cal.App.4th 289, 301 [a regional occupational program created pursuant to state law is a political subdivision under wage orders].) Consequently, the court unnecessarily reached the “sovereign powers” issue, which is not relevant under the case law that holds that Labor Code provisions apply only to employees in the private sector unless they are specifically made applicable to public employees.

Second, the Court of Appeal created a conflict in its application of the “sovereign powers” doctrine. In particular, the court’s conclusion that applying the wage and hour laws would not intrude on AHS’s sovereign powers conflicts with decisions recognizing that “a statute infringes upon a public entity’s sovereign powers if the statute affects the entity’s governmental purposes and functions,” (*Johnson, supra*, 174 Cal.App.4th at p. 738), “the relationship between a public employer and its employees affects the fundamental purposes and functions of the governmental body,” (*id.* at pp. 738-739), and, most specifically, “restrict[ing] [a] County in the operation of its public hospital infringes on its sovereign powers.” (*Community Memorial Hospital v. County of Ventura* (1996) 50 Cal.App.4th 199, 208, 210.)

Issue Two. The decision below has also deepened a preexisting split of authority as to what types of public entities

are exempt from the Labor Code’s prompt payment statutes. The Legislature has exempted “employees directly employed by any county, incorporated city, or town or other municipal corporation” from certain prompt payment obligations. (See Lab. Code, § 220, subd. (b).) One line of published cases has construed “other municipal corporation” broadly to include entities that “perform an essential governmental function.” (*Johnson, supra*, 174 Cal.App.4th at p. 741 [water storage district]; accord, *Division of Labor Law Enforcement v. El Camino Hosp. Dist.* (1970) 8 Cal.App.3d Supp. 30 (*El Camino*) [hospital district]; *Kistler v. Redwoods Community College Dist.* (1993) 15 Cal.App.4th 1326 [community college district].)

Another line of cases—including the decision below—has concluded that an entity must have the following “multiple crucial characteristics” to qualify as a “municipal corporation”: the power of eminent domain; possession of a geographical jurisdiction and the power to impose taxes and fees upon those who live in it; independent regulatory or police powers; and a board of directors elected by the public. (Typed opn. at p. 11, citing *Gateway Community Charters v. Spiess* (2017) 9 Cal.App.5th 499, 506.) These cases have relied too heavily on the *ejusdem generis* canon of statutory construction and ignored contrary statutory context and legislative history.

Issue Three. The Court of Appeal’s PAGA holding also warrants review for multiple reasons. First, it highlights a split of authority over whether public entities are “persons” under Labor Code section 18 (which PAGA and a host of Labor Code

provisions incorporate by reference). (Compare typed opn. at pp. 14-15 [public entities are not “persons” under section 18] with *Wood v. Kaiser Family Foundation* (Feb. 24, 2023) --- Cal.App.5th ---, 2023 WL 2198664, at *10 [“nothing in section 18 expressly excludes government entities”].) Second, its erroneous interpretation of PAGA could lead to double recoveries against public (but not private) employers and raises grave concerns given Government Code section 818’s prohibition on damages primarily designed to punish—the scope of which this Court is already considering in a different context. (See *Los Angeles Unified School Dist. v. Superior Court* (2021) 64 Cal.App.5th 549, 562-567 & fn. 6 (*LAUSD*), review granted (S269608).)

Statewide Importance. The Court of Appeal’s erroneous decision carries significant implications for hundreds of public agencies ranging from joint powers authorities to dependent special districts. Many of these public entities perform essential governmental functions but lack the “hallmarks of sovereignty” that the court found determinative here. The Court of Appeal’s decision, particularly when read in tandem with its interpretation of PAGA, could impose staggering new and unanticipated liabilities on hundreds of public employers. Left unreviewed, the decision threatens to sow confusion for public employers and lower courts across the state, upsetting longstanding interpretations of state law based on the Legislature’s and this Court’s pronouncements. This Court should grant review.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. AHS's creation, mission, and status as a "government entity."

Until the late 1990s, the County of Alameda (the "County") satisfied its obligations under the Welfare and Institutions Code to provide healthcare to the indigent through its operation of the Alameda County Medical Center. (See Welf. & Inst. Code, § 17000.) Eventually, however, the Board of Supervisors "determined that the creation of an independent hospital authority strictly and exclusively dedicated to the management, administration, and control of the medical center" was "the best way to fulfill its commitment to the medically indigent, special needs, and general populations of Alameda County." (Health & Saf. Code, § 101850, subd. (a)(1).) Accomplishing these goals, however, required "the adoption of a special act" by the Legislature so that the County could "create a hospital authority." (*Ibid.*)

The Legislature granted that authority in 1996, when it enacted Health and Safety Code section 101850. That statute charges AHS with the "mission" of managing, administering, and controlling "the group of public hospitals, clinics, and programs that comprise the medical center, in a manner that ensures appropriate, quality, and cost-effective medical care as required of counties by Section 17000 of the Welfare and Institutions Code." (Health & Saf. Code, § 101850, subd. (d).)

The statute also specifically and unequivocally declares that AHS is a public entity. (Health & Saf. Code, § 101850, subd.

(a)(2)(C) [“Hospital authority’ means the *separate public agency* established by the Board of Supervisors”], emphasis added; *id.*, subd. (g) [“public agency”]; *id.*, subd. (j) [“government entity”]; *id.*, subd. (s) [“district”]; *id.*, subd. (u) [“public agency”]; *id.*, subd. (w)(3); *id.*, subd. (ag) [“public agency”].)

The members of AHS’s governing board—which is subject to the open meeting requirements of the Ralph M. Brown Act with certain exceptions (see Health & Saf. Code, § 101850, subd. (ae)(1-3), (af))—are appointed and can be removed by the County’s Board of Supervisors and are protected under the Government Claims Act. (*Id.*, subd. (c), (t), citing Gov. Code, § 820.9.)

The County’s board retains substantial authority over AHS. The board has the authority to adopt and modify the bylaws for AHS’s administration of the medical center, to terminate the hospital authority upon certain findings, and to require reports from the authority, among other things. (*Id.*, subd. (e), (ak), (am)(3).)

The County also is intrinsically involved in AHS finances. The County’s Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (CAFR) includes a section titled “Alameda Health System Discretely Presented Component Unit.” (CAFR June 21, 2021, pp. 92-98.) The CAFR explains how the County retains the responsibility for indigent care under section 17000 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, for which it provides substantial funding (see Health & Saf. Code § 101850, subd (l)(1)); that the County still owns many hospital buildings which it leases to AHS for \$1 per year (*id.*, subd

(o)); that under Measure A, the County charges additional sales tax, 75% of which goes to support AHS's mission; that the County supplies AHS with funds to support its working capital needs, and that the County tracks AHS's accounts receivable and payable.

The AHS board members are also subject to the "laws of the state of California as they pertain to conflicts of interest" for public officials, including the Political Reform Act, Government Code section 1090, common law conflicts of interest, and (with limited exceptions) the incompatible activities prohibitions of Government Code section 1125. (*Id.*, § 101850, subd. (ac); Appellants' MJN, Ex. C at p. 5 [§ 2.120.120].)

AHS's employees are likewise "public employees" under the Government Claims Act. (Health & Saf. Code, § 101850, subd. (w)(3), citing Gov. Code, § 810 et seq.) AHS's employees "are eligible to participate in the County Employees Retirement System to the extent permitted by law...." (*Id.*, subd. (s).) And AHS is subject to the collective bargaining requirements of the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act (*id.*, subd. (u)), which are meant to "promote full communication between public employers and their employees...." (Gov. Code, § 3500, subd. (a).)

With limited exceptions, AHS's records are subject to the Public Records Act. (Health & Saf. Code, § 101850, subd. (ad)(3).) AHS is also "subject to the state and federal taxation laws that are applicable to counties generally" and enjoys "all the rights and duties set forth in state law with respect to hospitals owned or operated by a county." (*Id.*, subds. (z) & (m).)

B. The trial court sustains AHS's demurrer to Plaintiffs' wage and hour claims based on AHS's public entity status.

Plaintiffs Stone and Kunwar worked for AHS as a medical assistant and licensed vocational nurse, respectively. (Typed opn. at p. 3.) Their amended complaint asserted seven claims on behalf of themselves and others based on allegations that they were not fully compensated for missing meal and rest periods: (1) failure to provide off-duty meal periods (Lab. Code, §§ 512, 226.7; IWC Wage Order 5, Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 11050);¹ (2) failure to provide off-duty rest breaks (§ 226.7; Wage Order); (3) failure to keep accurate payroll records (§§ 1174, 1174.5, 1175; Wage Order); (4) failure to provide accurate itemized wage statements (§§ 226, 226.3); (5) unlawful failure to pay wages (§§ 204, 222, 223, 225.5, 218.6, 218.5, 510, 1194, 1194.2, and 1198); (6) failure to timely pay wages (§§ 204, 210, 222, 223, 225.5, 218.6, 218.5); and (7) PAGA (§ 2698 et seq.). (Typed opn. at pp. 3-4.)²

AHS demurred on the grounds that Plaintiffs' wage and hour claims were not cognizable because of AHS's status as a public entity. (1AA71-72, 74-75, 1AA86-94.) The superior court agreed and sustained AHS's demurrer without leave to amend,

¹ Unless otherwise noted, all statutory references are to the Labor Code, and all wage order references are to Wage Order 5.

² Plaintiffs also asserted non-class claims under the Fair Employment and Housing Act. (1AA47-51.) Those claims, which are still pending, are not at issue here.

explaining that “AHS is a statutorily created public agency whose employees are public employees and that has the same rights and duties as a county-owned hospital.” (4AA316-317.) The superior court also sustained the demurrer to Plaintiffs’ derivative PAGA claim on the grounds that AHS is not a “person” under the Labor Code and imposing PAGA penalties against AHS would violate Government Code section 818’s bar on “damages imposed primarily for the sake of example and by way of punishing the defendant.” (See 4AA316-317.)³

Plaintiffs appealed, arguing that AHS should not be exempt from the Labor Code and Wage Order despite its status as a public entity because it lacks certain “sovereign” characteristics.

C. In a published opinion, the Court of Appeal holds that AHS—and countless other public entities by implication—is subject to various wage and hour obligations and derivative PAGA penalties that do not expressly apply to public entities.

On February 3, 2023, the Court of Appeal issued a published opinion reversing as to all but one of Plaintiffs’ claims because AHS “conspicuously lacks many of the hallmarks of

³ The trial court also struck Plaintiffs’ punitive damages allegations. (1RA 30 [“Plaintiffs apparently concede that as a public entity, AHS is not subject to punitive damages”].)

sovereignty” required to exempt it from the Labor Code and Wage Order. (Typed opn. at pp. 1-2.)⁴

Overtime, Meal & Rest Break, and Payroll Records

Claims. The Court of Appeal concluded that AHS was not exempt from the meal and rest break, overtime, and payroll records obligations in the Wage Order and Labor Code. (Typed opn. at pp. 6-10.) The court acknowledged the rule that “absent express words to the contrary, governmental agencies are not included within the general words of a statute,” that the statutes giving rise to these claims did not expressly reference public entities, and that AHS “is a public entity of some sort.” (Typed. opn. at pp. 6-7 & fn. 6, 15.) The court nevertheless concluded these claims could proceed absent specific legislative intent to exempt AHS because that “would not infringe upon any sovereign governmental powers.” (Typed opn. at pp. 7-10.)

Prompt Payment Claims. The Court of Appeal concluded that AHS was also not exempt from Plaintiffs’ prompt payment claims despite the exemption set forth for “count[ies]” and “other municipal corporation[s]” in section 220, subdivision (b). (See typed opn. at pp. 10-11.) In the court’s view, AHS was not a “municipal corporation” because it lacks the power of eminent

⁴ In so doing, the Court of Appeal agreed with Plaintiffs that it had appellate jurisdiction under the “death knell” doctrine. (Typed opn. at pp. 4-5.) AHS does not challenge that ruling here.

domain, to tax, independent regulatory or police powers, and a board of directors elected by the public. (Typed opn. at p. 11.)⁵

Wage Statement Claim. In stark tension with its preceding holdings, the Court of Appeal concluded that AHS *was* exempt from Plaintiffs’ wage statement claim because “there is no reason to doubt that [AHS] is a ‘governmental entity’ of some kind.” (Typed opn. at p. 12, quoting § 226, subd. (i).) As the court explained, AHS “was established by the government of Alameda County, an act which required special authorization from the state Legislature,” and “bears ‘all the rights and duties set forth in state law with respect to hospitals owned or operated by a county.’” (*Ibid.*, quoting Health & Saf. Code, § 101850, subd. (m).)

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