Case No. S279137

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

TAMELIN STONE, AMANDA KUNWAR, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated *Plaintiffs/Appellants*,

vs.

ALAMEDA HEALTH SYSTEM, a Public Hospital Authority; Defendants/Respondents

On Petition from a Decision by the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, No. A164021

#### **ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

David Y. Imai (State Bar # 142822) Law Offices of David Y. Imai 311 Bonita Drive Aptos, California 95003 (831) 662-1706

Attorney for Plaintiffs and Appellants TAMELIN STONE, AMANDA KUNWAR, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated

## **

#### INTRODUCTION

I.

The sovereign powers maxim is well established and is not in conflict in the case law. The Court of Appeal here closely followed the maxim in finding that Defendant/Respondent Alameda Health System ("AHS") was not an exempt sovereign. No case cited by AHS disputes the maxim and there is no conflict to review.

Instead, AHS seeks to obtain review by comparing *factually* dissimilar cases and claiming they are in "conflict". AHS compares cases analyzing public entities with recognized sovereign characteristics with those of non sovereigns. The difference between those cases is not in the law, it is in the facts of each case.

AHS strains hard to find a "conflict" in the law such that it argues hypothetical issues which present no actual controversy in this case and which, given the position argued by AHS, would subject them to *more* penalties than were found in the Opinion here.

AHS's attempt to create a "conflict" out of whole cloth is groundless and Petition should be denied.

II.

#### **REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED**

Review should be denied because this case does not require the Court to settle an important question of law nor secure a uniformity of decision. (Cal. R. Ct. 8.500, subd. (b)(1)) AHS claims the Court of Appeal has created a conflict in the law with regards to the application of statutory sovereign immunity. In fact, the Court of Appeal merely followed existing case law, which it clearly cited and even noted it was bound by the precedents.

#### III.

# THE COURT OF APPEAL FOLLOWED WELL ESTABLISHED LAW REGARDING SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY

A. <u>The "Sovereign Powers Maxim" Is a Long Settled Rule of Statutory</u> <u>Construction Without Controversy</u>

The Court of Appeal here followed well established maxims regarding statutory liability - if there is no express language otherwise, government agencies are excluded only if their inclusion would result in an infringement upon sovereign governmental powers. (Opinion at 6)

This Court has long followed the "sovereign powers maxim". (<u>Hoyt</u> <u>v. Board of Civil Service Commrs</u>. (1942) 21 Cal.2d 399, 402; <u>City of Los</u> <u>Angeles v. City of San Fernando</u> (1975) 14 Cal.3d 199, 276–277; <u>Wells v.</u> <u>One20ne Learning Foundation</u> (2006) 39 Cal.4th 1164, 1192)

The Court of Appeal here adhered to precedent, following the three

step process stated in Johnson v. Arvin-Edison Water Storage Dist. (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 729, 736, which itself followed this Court in <u>Wells</u>, supra, 39 Ca1.4th 1192. (Opinion at 7, citing <u>Wells</u>, supra, at p. 1192) The Court expressly stated its adherence to precedent:

"Following Johnson, we conduct a three-part inquiry. First, we look for "express words" that include governmental agencies "within the general words of the relevant statutes. (Wells, supra, 39 Ca1.4th at p. 1193.) If not, we look for "positive indicia" of a legislative intent to exempt such agencies from those statutes. (Ibid.) Then, if no such indicia appear, we ask whether applying the statutes to respondent "would result in an infringement upon sovereign governmental powers." (Id. at p. 1192.) Accordingly, because the statutes underlying the first, second, and third causes of action" do not expressly include governmental agencies, we proceed to the second part of the Johnson inquiry: asking whether there are "positive indicia" of legislative intent to exempt respondent." (Opinion, p. 7)

The maxim of statutory construction cited by the Court of Appeal

here is well established. The Court did not part from the maxim's dictates

and there is no conflict with other case law.

B. <u>AHS Cites "Conflicting" Caselaw Which Contains Dissimilar Facts,</u> <u>Not Dissimilar Law</u>

AHS claims Campbell v Regents of the University of California

(2005) 35 Cal.4th 311 created a rule that "provisions of the Labor Code

apply only to employees in the private sector unless they are specifically

made applicable to public employees". (Petition, p. 26, citing Campbell, at

330) That quote was merely dicta from the legislative analysis of the bill that became Labor Code section 1106, which expanded the whistle blowing coverage under Labor Code 1102.5 to include public entities. The quote was not a "rule" stating that all public entities, no matter their sovereign status, are exempt from the Labor Code. <u>Campbell</u> does not address the sovereign powers maxim at all.

AHS attempts to paint an artificial "conflict" in the law by comparing cases with differing facts, not conflicting law:

<u>Johnson v Arvin Edison Water Storage</u>, supra, 174 Cal.App.4th 729 held that a water district performs an essential governmental function.
 (Johnson, at 741) AHS does not because alleviating poverty via Welfare
 and Institutions Code section 17000 is not a core government function per
 <u>The Community Action Agency of Butte County v Superior Court</u> (2022)
 79 Cal.App.5th 221, 239. (Opinion, p. 9);

<u>California Correctional Peace Officers Ass'n v State of California</u> (2010)
 188 Cal.App.4th 646 - the State of California was not subject to meal period violations. Did not address the issue of whether the State of California was a sovereign, for obvious reasons;

- <u>Allen v San Diego Convention Center Corporation Inc</u>. (2022) 86 Cal. App.5th 589 - San Diego Convention Center Corporation was, as stated in San Diego's municipal code, a part of the city and immune therefore (<u>Allen</u>, supra, at 583) By contrast, AHS is by its enabling statute specifically independent of the County of Alameda. (See Appellant's Supplemental Brief Regarding New Authority)

<u>Sheppard v. North Orange County Regional Occupational Program</u>
(2011) 191 Cal.App.4th 289 - held that the defendant was liable for
minimum wage violations as is specifically stated in the IWC Wage Orders.
It did not address whether the defendant was an immune sovereign.

AHS cites cases involving County owned hospitals for the proposition that they "conflict" with the Opinion here. (<u>Community</u> <u>Memorial Hospital v. County of Ventura</u> (1996) 50 Cal.App.4th 199) This completely ignores the basic premise - the hospital in question here is operated and owned by AHS, a non sovereign entity, not by the sovereign County. (Opinion, p. 7-8)

None of the cases cited by AHS find the sovereign powers maxim controversial nor attempt to divert from its basic precepts nor seek the Supreme Court's guidance on that issue. This case does not require the Court to settle an important question of law nor secure a uniformity of decision.

IV.

10

#### WAITING TIME VIOLATIONS ARE NOT CONFLICTED IN THE CASE LAW

AHS claims that <u>Gateway Community Charters v. Spiess</u> (2017) 9 Cal.App.5th 499 conflicts with previous cases interpreting exemptions from wage waiting time violations under Labor Code section

220(b) and that the Opinion here exacerbates this "split". (Petition, p. 33)

Again, the cases cited by AHS are completely consistent in their application of the law, they only differ in their facts. Johnson v Arvin Edison, supra, and Gateway both hold that an entity must have certain minimal characteristics to qualify as an exempt "other municipal corporation" under section 220(b). In Johnson the defendant water district possessed those characteristics and was exempt. (Johnson, at 741) In Gateway, the defendant school district did not and was not exempt. (Gateway, at 506-07) This is not a "split" in the law. It is an equal application of the law to different sets of facts.

The Court of Appeal here cited both cases, noting their similar holdings:

"Respondent has none of the characteristics discussed in *Gateway* and lacks any powers analogous to the ones discussed in *Johnson*. In short, there is no reason to ascribe to respondent the status of a "municipal corporation" within the meaning of section 220, subdivision (b)." (Opinion, p. 11)

AHS also cites <u>Div. Labor Law Enforcement v El Camino Hospital</u> <u>District</u> (1970) 8 Cal.App.3d Supp 30 and <u>Kistler v. Redwoods Community</u> <u>College Dist.</u> (1993) 15 Cal.App.4th 1326 as examples of a "conflict" under section 220(b). These cases also apply the same undisputed law to different facts. <u>El Camino</u> dealt with a defendant Health *District*, created under Health and Safety Code sections 32000. Health Districts have sovereign powers which AHS, a Hospital *Authority* under Health and Safety Code 11850, does not. (See, Appellants' Opening Brief, p. 32) Nor did <u>Kistler</u> present conflicting law. As noted in <u>Gateway</u>, both the college district in <u>Kistler</u> and the Health District in <u>El Camino</u> possessed the same sovereign characteristics as those discussed in <u>Johnson</u> and <u>Gateway</u>. The holdings are fully in harmony:

"Based on *El Camino* and *Kistler*, one might deduce, as Gateway and amicus curiae California Charter Schools Association (CCSA) appear to do, that the only showing that must be made to qualify as a quasi-municipal corporation or "other municipal corporation" for purposes of section 220(b), is that (1) the entity was created or authorized by the Legislature, and (2) it performs some kind of public or state work. We disagree with that deduction, however. The entity at issue in El Camino, a public hospital district, bore other characteristics reminiscent of a municipal corporation that are not present here and that were not expressly discussed in El Camino. (See Health & Saf. Code, § 32000 et seq. *[powers, governance, and regulation of local health care or* hospital districts].) The same is true of the community college district at issue in Kistler. These characteristics were described in some detail in Johnson v. Arvin-Edison Water

12

Storage Dist. (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 729, 95 Cal.Rptr.3d 53 (Johnson), which considered whether a water storage district qualified as an "other municipal corporation" for purposes of section 220(b)." (Gateway, supra, at 505, emph. added)

Gateway does not "split" with Johnson, Kistler or El Camino.

Gateway followed Johnson closely:

"Johnson thus makes clear that while the performance of "an essential governmental function for a public purpose" is crucial to determining whether an entity is an "other municipal corporation," it is not the only factor to be considered. (Johnson, supra, 174 Cal.App.4th at p. 741, 95 Cal.Rptr.3d 53.) We must also consider, for example, whether the entity is governed by an elected board of directors; whether the entity has regulatory or police powers; whether it has the power to impose taxes, assessments, or tolls; whether it is subject to open meeting laws and public disclosure of records; and whether it may take property through eminent domain." (Gateway, supra, at 506)

There is no "split" on this issue presented in Gateway nor here.

#### V.

#### THE COURT OF APPEAL FOLLOWED CLEAR PRECEDENT REGARDING PAGA

A. <u>There is No Conflict Between Sargent v Board of Trustees and</u> <u>Wood v Kaiser Foundation and AHS Presents No Reviewable Actual</u> <u>Controversy</u>

The Court of Appeal here ruled that Appellants are entitled to pursue

PAGA claims as prescribed in Sargent v Board of Trustees of California

State University (2021) 61 Cal.App.5th 658. (Opinion, p. 15) Per Sargent,

where an underlying Labor Code section already provides for penalties, all

public entities are liable therefore. A public entity is not, however, liable for the "default" penalties provided in PAGA.

AHS claims <u>Wood v. Kaiser Foundation Hospitals</u> (2023) 88 Cal.App.5th 742 conflicts with <u>Sargent</u> and this Opinion. There is no conflict because <u>Wood</u> did not address the issue in <u>Sargent</u> or here. <u>Wood</u> held that the mandatory paid sick leave statute, Labor Code section 245 et seq, does not exclude a PAGA claim. <u>Wood</u> did not address the holding in <u>Sargent</u> or this case - that a public entity under PAGA is liable for penalties prescribed in the underlying Labor Code section, but not for default PAGA penalties.

AHS is actually improperly attempting to reverse <u>Wood</u>, not the Opinion in this case. AHS claims that the Court of Appeal here correctly found that a public entity is not a "person" under Labor Code section 18 and therefore not liable for default PAGA penalties, but that <u>Wood</u> incorrectly held otherwise. AHS is thus either arguing against its own interests by claiming that the Court of Appeal here should have mandated <u>all</u> penalties against it, PAGA default and Labor Code prescribed, or is attempting to overturn <u>Wood</u> without standing to do so.

The Court of Appeal's ruling here has not deprived AHS of any right or interest and AHS cannot appeal Wood. In either instance there is no actual controversy and the issue is not subject to review. (Paul v Milk Depots (1964) 62 Cal.2d 128, 132)

#### B. <u>There is No "Double Recovery" Under PAGA and No Reviewable</u> Actual Controversy Since the LWDA is Not Prosecuting AHS

AHS claims that the Opinion here and <u>Sargent</u> have exposed them to a "double recovery", where private plaintiffs and the Labor and Workforce Development Agency ("LWDA") can simultaneously seek to recover penalties against it. This proposition is nonsensical and is not even in issue.

The LWDA holds the initial right to pursue violations under PAGA. If it chooses to do so, there is no private right of action. (Labor Code sec. 2699(h)) The Opinion here does not hold otherwise.

Moreover, the LWDA has not even sought to pursue an action in this case. AHS's "double recovery" claim is not in issue in this case and is not even a plausible hypothetical. The PAGA statute specifically states that private enforcement is an "alternative" to enforcement by the LWDA. This is clearly meant to allow one or the other, not both:

"Notwithstanding any other provision of law, any provision of this code that provides for a civil penalty to be assessed and collected by the Labor and Workforce Development Agency or any of its departments, divisions, commissions, boards, agencies, or employees, for a violation of this code, *may, as an alternative, be recovered through a civil action brought by an aggrieved employee* on behalf of himself or herself and other current or former employees pursuant to the procedures specified in Section 2699.3." (Labor Code sec. 2699(a), emph. added)

The legislative history of the PAGA statute shows the intent to allow private enforcement of a PAGA action only where the LWDA has not already done so:

"This bill would allow aggrieved employees to bring civil actions to recover these penalties, if the agency or its departments, divisions, commissions, boards, agencies, or employees do not do so." (2003 Cal. Legis. Serv. Ch. 906 (S.B. 796) (WEST), see <u>Knapp v. Ginsberg</u> (2021) 67 Cal.App.5th 50, 532 - request for judicial notice of reports on legislative analysis unnecessary)

Nothing in the Opinion here states that AHS is subject to a "double

recovery" under PAGA and the statute itself clearly prohibits that.

Moreover, that question is not even in issue here. AHS presents, at most, an

abstract proposition which is not an actual controversy. That proposition is

not subject to review, even if it were correct in its hypothesis, which it is

not. (Jefferson Street Ventures, LLC v. City of Indio (2015) 236

Cal.App.4th 1175, 1205)

C. <u>PAGA Penalties Are Not Punitive Damages and No Case Holds</u> Otherwise

As noted in the Opinion here, PAGA penalties are not primarily

punitive in nature are not barred by Government Code section 818. AHS

has cited no case holding otherwise. Los Angeles County Metropolitan

Trans. Authority v Superior Court (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 261

("<u>LACMTA</u>") did not address the issue of PAGA penalties. It only held that the Unruh Act's 25,000 dollar penalty were not punitive damages because they were not "primarily imposed for the sake of example and by way of punishing the defendant". (<u>LACMTA</u>, at 271)

Similarly, <u>X.M. v Superior Court</u> (2021) 68 Cal.App.5th 1014 and <u>Los Angeles Unified School District v. Superior Court</u> (2021) 64 Cal.App.5th 549 do not address PAGA penalties. The issue on review in both <u>X.M.</u> and <u>Los Angeles Unified School District</u> ("LAUSD"), is whether treble damages in a statute addressing minor sexual assault violates section 818 if applied to a School District. The Court in <u>X.M.</u> noted that all statutory treble damage provisions are punitive but are barred only if their primary purpose is to punish, rather than to incentivize plaintiffs. (<u>X.M.</u>, supra at 1029-30)

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